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SAN BERNARDINO ASISTENCIA

San Bernardino Asistencia might well have been

considered a failure in its early years. Three great visions

s unfulfilled. Plans, first for a

¢ch wa

s, and ea

it pursued
rancho, then for a mission, and finally for a second Salt
Lake City, were abandoned. Not until a new era, based on

a firmer foundation and more happy fortune, did San Bernardino

fulfill the promise of its peteﬁxialitiesg Less visionary

and dramatic, but more successful, a prosperous modern town

s, soldiers, and idealistic
adventurers. o |
At the end of the first decade of the 1800's,

as supernumerary at San Gabriel,

Father Dumetz, who was

living
took an interest in the place called San Bernardino. Since

the early travelers f rom Mexico usually went by way of the

Colorado desert to San Gabriel, a station was necessary nearer

to the border of ﬁhvt is now California 1n>@rder*t@ sSupply

re, few places were better suited

food and aid. Furthermo

nchos to supplement the production of the mission.

to form re
Consequently, Fr. Dumetz with the aid'@f some troops

and a few neophytes, that is, Christian Indians,

ma Indians, known

way to the well watered valley of the Guacha

to him as San Bernmardino. A chapel and a station were erected




at a place called 'Pelitaa, and a quantity of supplies left

~ to support the Indian stewards. It was an excellent begin-

ning and one which promised great success. Fr. Dumetz undoubt-

edly felt satisfaction as he viioné the flourishing

which he never doubted would develop in that place. Flocks,

herds

. produce, converts - the future was limitless!

Upon one thing he a not counted and that was

' native hostility. The Indians had appeared friendly that

an uprising seemed unlikly, but 1t was always the least ex~-

pected which overthrew plans masde for San Bernardino. In

a short while the Indians M suspicious of the new under-

an blaming it for their ills; and finally, in the

taking; beg

heat of a passion bred almost of panic, they descended with

el emental fu 'y upon

the 1little post, completely overwhelm=-

ing and destroying it. As the few survivors fled, terroriz-

ed, towards San Gabriel, the flame-tinted sky behind prophesied

the tragic decades which followed.

Some years passed, and the incident at Politana

gradually faded from memory. WMisibn San Gabriel Arcang

had become an 0ld and accepted institution. Fear of the

red as the neophytes continued to visit their
Indians and to tell of the ad-

padres disappes

relations among the Gauchames

l L] R . M@Ewy’




ntage of mission life. At last the natives suggested
them would be

v -

sment by the missionaries among

that a settl:

once more the project of an important rancho,

acceptable, and
or asistencia, in San Bernardino Valley was taken up by the

friars at San G&briﬁlu

In 1819 the undertaking was'bexun, and b?flazo the

for use. The

new chapel and ranch buildings were ready

chapel was dedlcated to San Bermardino of Sienna, and the

new community began. A zanja or ditch was dug for irriga-

tion. Wheat, ﬂwapea and olives were planted. Cattle and

other livestock were put to graze in the valley. It all

required a great deal of'wor%: as for instance the zanja

which was dug

by a large crew of Indi ‘no ptkertﬁﬁls

ans using

der blades of cattle.. The result was 8o good,

- than the shoul
however, that later settlers mistook the ditch for a natural
‘ water course, which error took several long court battles to

- gorrect.

San Bernardino was in a fair'w:y to bec&me a sue- .

saeeful but 00~

¢cess at‘last» Th@ Indians were not only pE€

well; impr

operative. Crops were growing

wv@ﬁ@mts‘wer@ rapid-

ly appearing; and the twofold purpose of the ~asistencia, of

1z an aid to the older mission San Gabriel and of assiste

ing in the conversion of the natives was no longer a dream,

but an actuality. However, the padres were not content

with leaving San Bernardino in the simple  ¢1@ of rancho.




It was decided to make something more ambitious out of the
asistencia - a mission!

For some

years the Franciscan missionaries had
8 new and sw me That was noth-

n the establishn

2y 0
vl

ping progre

been considering

ing less tha ent of a new chain of missions.
ATter a generation of activity by the series of missions

along the coast, conditions had become fairlystahfe.

Practically all of the‘Iniians’were converted, and the in-

stitutions were going concerns. Towards the interior,

story. There the Indians re-

ﬁainad in their wild state and were a constant menace to the

missions. In order to curb the depredations and annoyances

which the un~Chri

tianized Indians were ¢onsta

ntly giving

'““f,*no bott@r*mathod could be feund by thc padres than te
form new ins titutiona farther to the aast conyert and SUub=
jugat@ those nativas, and continue the process until the

dino was

Indian problem no longer should exist. San Bernaz

chosen as one of the first steps in that program.

nsequence, Fr. Presidente Payeras and a

among which was Padre José Sanchez who kept a diary

, made an exploration tour in search of possible
new mission sites. During the course of their jeumy, they

arrived at.San}erkariinga The report left was as favornble

stablishment ef*a missitn.th@re¢ They first
y Which

inspected the regionfknawn to the natives as Jubuval




was the part of the valley lying between what is now City
Creek on the east, Santa Ana River on the south, and Lytle
Creek on the west. The cuntry was found to have suf=-

turage. On towards the mountains

ficient water

they remarked a "steaming body of warm water about a quarter

This was caused by what a'% present

gse Drainage during

are the Harlem Sprin

‘more recent years,

however, has dried up the swamp, over which at times was a

large bank of fog.
Next the party turned to the southeast and inspected

recorded:

the Zanija.

We turned and recrossed the river. Beyond
a rock-strewn plain towards the east there is _'
a large water ditch which has been made for the
missionaries of San Gabriel by a certain Pedro
Alvarez in order to irrigate the lands whiech
they now haw undor cultivatmn, all kinds of

The padms gathered the Indians together, and asked
them if they would like to have a mission established there.

natives replied favorably. Later,

mass was said and

1os Garaﬁa,thexf

at the request of Ca jordomo of the asis-
tencia, two o0ld women and an old man who were seriously ill

were instructed and baptized. After this act of piety and

2. Quoted in G. W. Betttie "San )ernardino Valley in the
~Spanish Period," in Hiatorical Soewty of Southern Cali-

fernia Pur@;csti@@;, A1l, 10,




repairs. Other glimpses of the life of the times show

zanja or hunting rabbits with

the Indian boys wading in the

h the few Spanish chil=

their bows and arrows in company wi

dren of the settlement.

At the asistencia was a large adobe building which

ed as the home of the majordomo and which contained

Jord

was us

Added to it was an enramoda, or structure of

granarys.

hs, wh ich served as a chapel. The majordomo had charge

dically the padres

,g:, while perio

would visit it in order to hold services and to make thelr

inspections. Near the main ui_l.di were the huts of the

Indians. T%tiny to the prosperity of the establishment

; given by Harrison C. Rogers, the chronicler who accompanied

Smith on an expedition which arrived at San Gabriel

late in 1826. On their epr‘tureh early in 1827, Father Sanchez

larnardinﬁ for supplies. The steward

an order on San

gave them &
ented to him.

complied wi th the irwr as soon as it was pms

Smith was given corn, ed meal and wheat flour, and

allowed to kill and 'dry' a quantity of beef, for which Jedediah

Smith, who was without provisions, was

4. Beattie, f’San Berf rum " i Eiaterical Society of Southern




For a decade San Bernardino prosper

however, a terrible set-back occurred. The desert Indians,

who were ancient enemies of the Guacham

as, raided the

asistencia. No provisions had been ma

de to repulse such

s« The buildings

an attack; so the result was disastrou

were destroyed, the cattle scattered or stolen, and the de-

ey,

fenders

driven into It was another link in the

ih 1 i'f”'

chain of tragic ciret id such a blighting

influence over San Bernard

was not admitted. New and

larger huildings were gonstructed, and the asistencia once
more defied its bad fortune. Its appearance was very much

like that of

a fort. Stone foundations were used upon which
feet thick. The principal
»‘Wﬁs 250 feet 1@3.’ 125 feet Wiae' and o0 4

were erected walls three structure

so built as %o form the usual patio, closed in the back
high adobe wall in which was a gateway cf sufficient dimensions
to

allow horses, mhicles, and other large objects to pass.

Aeross the east andrwest ends were two long perches. There

was corral

for livestock, and a granary for storing grain.

The whole was sufficiently formidable looking to discourage

| | 3}
attack from the desert Indian.

6+ J. Caballeria, History ¢ Bernar
radres to the “1Qnocrs, 67~§8.




As secularization plams ripened into acectuality,
peace fled from the asistencia. Governmental attacks on
fkéstatus of the missions fanned the Indian restlessness.
Responsible also were a group of colonists sent out from

Mexico under the

leadership of Hijar and Padrés, usually
called the Hfjar&wldnyu ~Among these men were a. few mis-
guided and restless spirits who were constantly ;auaing
dissension. One of these, a certain Lieutenant Aranjo,

~was strongly implicated in stirring up the natives. The

desert Indians proved to be especially inflammable materi-

al in the hands of the agitators. ‘
| In October 1834, the next blow fell. The Indians

~from the desert, combined with a few in the valley, attacked

the asistenecia. The holy vessels were stolen and the defend-

ers besieged. As soon as

a messenger could get through -

San Gabriel, help was sent, although it proveiimeff@stive.

At last Padre Estenega rode to the scene of the disturbance

in ord:

sr to persuade the savages to leave in peace. ' Fr.

while there was

Estenega was promptly taken captive and for a
great fear that he had been killed. The Indiens were reluc-

tant, however, to execute so powerful a "medicine man," and,

after some persuasion, relinquished their captive and withdrew.
In a short time, however, they returned to the at-

tack more violently then ever. In December, warriors de~

seendéd on San Bernardino killing and burning everything
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they could. The buildings were sacked and left but smoking
- shells of their former stata. Many'of the inhabitants of
the valley were killa&,‘wouniad, or captured. The remainder
took refuge 1m San Gabriel. For the next two months there

was great excitement and constant alarm. Nothing but des~

'pair @md iisappoimtmamt seemed to come to the smiling, in-
viting vallay of Sau Bernardxno.' |

As a rancho and an asistencia of San Gahrial, San

l@rnardine halln;n@asurv Gf success. The crops and livestock

it preduoas, as well as the Indian: it holpel to Chriati*fize,

naia it of great assi&t««ee to Misién San Gabricl. Ths great

dreams @f Father Payéras, however, nevcr:natarialized. At

th@ tims whan the plw*a

were laid, there was ne rsally‘valid

;rnardino sheuli not become the seat of a

ﬁrea;on why’San Be

and an 1m&ustrioua center whieh wculd

~1—‘@316.@1311; wiasianary,

~draw p&gtn Indi ns for u«rywniles &rﬁfl@, feed th&n, ¢lothe

thﬁﬁ, eivilize thﬁm, and christigﬁ

ize thamw Thiiﬁ in spite
of the moves to aeej*arize the older missions. Surely the

nt

opportunity was there. Even the Indian depredations mig

have been overeome. Hownvar, the unforeseen came when ‘
secularization took the turn 1t did. swiftneaa,'roree'ama ‘
_hostility*betwaen the secular and ehureh authoritiea gave

what was intendnd to be a natural ievelopnent a destruative

History of California, III, 359-360.

y. 8. K. BanQIOfts
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conclusion which almost put an end to missionary endeavor

ornia. Thus, through forces beyond its control

‘luence, San Bernardino's aim as one of the great mis-

inland chain failed utterly.

For nearly eight years, the asistencia was prae-

« A shadowy contr

~tically abandone ol was exeried by the

istration of San Gabriel. Some

of the old
lered back and took up their abode, as formerly,

ed buildings. Almos

ings were ecarried orf Squatters settled where they wnl.

ngregation was left without priest or leader.

sttlers were slow to take up land and develop it i |

where the Indians hac

mselves to be so warlike and i

tileﬁi

*vant;uall y a few ranchers move
~and finally
petitioned

d into the valley,

old Sefior Don Antonio },.;,arf L’ﬁ

, in 1841,

the government for a grant which included the

former asistencia. Antonio's herds had grown too large

sked for the

for his holdings around Los Angeles. He e

grant in the mame of his three sons, José del Carmen, José

Maria and Vicente, and a nephew, Diego Sepulveda. In Junej
1842, the grant was issued, whereupon Don Antonio stocked the

new holding

s with the surplus from his own herds, and the e

Lugo boys took echarge. José del Carmen made his home in




me the roof and two

the old asistencia buildings. At that t
sides af'thn building had fallen, but*tne rest'was in good

by

cenditionw,

For almost a decade, the Lugos dominated San Bernar-

‘hey were the largest landowners and the most

dino Vall CY e

a&tive in keeping p@a@@ and order. They carly'aoquireﬁ

vary'important ally for their endeavors in the persen of the

is

n chief of the regimn,.Jﬁan”Ant@nia. In

which

outstanding Ind

1844, one of the ranchers, Waters, gave a big barbecue

s attended by the whites along with Juan Antonio 'ad his

wa

rough the mellowing influence of good food,

retinue. Th
% ‘
every@ne became very friendly. A council was h
all ple

the desert. Juan Antonio took his promise sérieualy'*

ighter, and, in all probability, some excellent brandy,
2ld in which

dged their aid in fighting off the wild marauders of

nd ever

afterward rode with the st when trouble arose.

Juan Antonio was a very valusble ally. His influence

*#er"thepowerful Cahuilla tribe w&s'unh@umded.. They gave

him the respect ordinarily accorded to a prince of royal blood.
Juan Antani@ was abaﬁt five feet raur'ihches tall, thick,
stout, and wiry. ©He had a lion=like head, a 'dignified

manner, and was ‘always accompanied by medicine men and a

82-83; Beattie, Calif
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years

mounted guard of ten or twelve armed men. Even four
after the United States invasion, in 1850, when San Bernar-
anized by the whites, Juan

dino had beem org -Antonio's pres-
tige was such that he could ride up to the jail and demand
one of his people who was imprisoned fornnrdér,nake good

his request, and execute the criminal after the Indian fashs -

ion. In 1863, he died of smallpox at the age @f eighty,;rew

vered by his people and respected by the whitaa¢9

Until the early 1850's, the Lugos, with the help

of Juan Antonio and the neighboring ranchers, kept a rude

kind of law and order. Mar

auding Indians were punished and
eriminals hunted dowm. It was one of the wildest and:most
violent periocds in the history of San Bernardino. That set-
tlement and development was possible at all was largely due
- %o the Lugos. Anth@rity still centered around the old San
Gabriel asistencia.

Yet one more great design was in store for San Ber-

nardino, before it was broken up into its thousands of indi-

vidual worlds represented in the families of United States
- settlers, who made what is now known as San Bernardino. It
was another church enterprise, but this time it was the

MOI‘E Church. Brigham Young, the president of the church,

under took to create a large Mormon empire. It was planned

9. M. T. Wolcott, "The Lugos and their Indian ally," Touring '
' topies, XXI, 12: 22~24. '
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tooinclude all of the ré&t basin and extend as far as San 44

Diego in California. He hoped to bring, by way of the Pa-
@ifie, to San Diego and on to Salt Lake the thousands of

converts whom his missionaries sent. In its entirety, his

program caﬁpr@hemded‘setgfing a large part of the western

part of the UnitQQSt&taa; estaklishiﬂf‘-wulargggyvly.;

- tion with important gathering places, such as England, by

means of one of the isthmuses of Central An

erica or over the

Paeific, and collecting his people in through a series of

settlements from San Diego to eemtral Utah and Nevada. 1In

the main

this system, San Bernardino was chosen as one of

receiving points and as a metropolis rivaled only Salt

came known as

Lake. That, then, was the prajet which be

- the famous "Mormon corridor." How far Brigh

ng planned

on annexing territory is little known, but at least he in-

%
L

tended to est:

blish a state within a state ruled Ey'tk@ laws
and precepts of the Mormon Church. ‘
The first‘amva towards San Diego was taken in Feb-

ruary, 1851, when Brigham Young elors blessed

and his couns

an and Charles C. Rich

and set apart Apostles Amaca M. Lyn

"to take a company to Southern Califor

nia to preside over
affairs of the Church in that land, and to establish a

stron

W R '
ghold for the gathering of the Saints." By the

Brigham Young the colonizer, 312-313.

10. Quoted 1nth R, §nnter,‘



. middle of

March, final instructions were given and Lyman

and Rich set out with 520 persons for California. The

‘destination was to be in the neighborhood of Williams'

ranch, because of the glowing

which the Mo: Battalion ~ enlisted for the Mexican

de was given to Rich and Lyman

any settlements

a consequence they decided not to make
along the way, but to concentrate their efforts in South-

erﬁcalirennia, and to work back from that kase.‘ By the |

| end of June, tho lon; 1xae of wmstna had rolled aewn 1nto

Bernardino Valley. There thny stopped. After two

ﬁ&nthaActinapa@ti®n andmeg@tiati@ms, ansf and Rich con-

s?;uated tha purchase of 100, 000 acres of the old Lugo

grant at the asistancia. The sale Priee‘wasfvv,ooo‘agl-'

lars which was financed by a Sen Franeisco firm and paid

in several installments. The deed was recorded on Febru-
ary 27, 1852.

For energy and resourcefulness, few settlers in

ons. A road was built up to

the valley equaled the Morm

the timber land in the mountains. In the early fall of

1851, the town was staked out under the direction of the

apostles Lyman and Rich. The colonists were organize«

aasiafeltO‘their part'of the purehase. waever,tha Mor-

lﬁl& had aaareely settled down to their taska or er@@ting

and planting erapa when their mettle was sorely‘tried

h@ﬁ&&’
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through en attack by the Indians.
 After the withdrawal of the Lugos, the savages un-
doubtedly thought their depredations would go umchegk@d. They

without the fighting quality of the Mormon people,

@oumteé

The defenders put up such a desperate and hard-fought battle
that the Indians were driven back ccnvinced that they could
not take the new settlement, Furthermore, they never at-

tacked again. In the meant

ime, a messenger had been sent

with all haste to get the aid of Captain Been and a troop

of United States Volunteers who were stationed on the coast.

‘Bean advised that a stockade be erected. It was an exact-

ing task, to be sure, coming

ataparioé when time and ener-

- &y were s@raly'n@eaéé,f@r building shelter and preparing for

~erops. Nevertheless, under the direction of the church of-
ficials, an elaborate stockade was built. A space 300 feet

wide and 700 feet long was enclosed by a wall made by split-

ting cottonwood and large willow logs, roughly facing them on
the split side and hewing the edges so that they would fit t@~.
gether closely. The timbers were then stood upright and set
 three feet in the ground, projeeting twelve feet high .with
the split side facing in. This was an effective protection
~against possible Indian raids. The west side of the fort
was made up of the houses which hed already been built by
the settlers. Theée had been placed tightly together so as

to form the wall. Inside the stockade rows of

esmall, one-
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story houses were built sixteen to eighteen feet apart*ll

The usual arrang@mentsof%gates and‘l@opkeles We;g'made.
Water was provided by Warm Creek and small wells.

;&tl% the

A year later the leaders decided to dism

~ fort. By that time 1t had become evident that no more

Indian disturbances were Lo be expecteds Consequently,

in order to get some use out of the logs before fh@y rotted,

Mormons regretfully tore down the old stockade and used the

the &
materials for the construction of stores, houses and barns.

After that, the

settlement took on its more normal appearance

as an ordinary small town. It was surveyed and laid out as

a minlature

Salt Lake City. It was one mile squéra,divided

ht acres each. The streets were

into blocks of about elg

wide, each bordered by a diteh of water. This system oL

water supply proved to be inadequate, and recourse was had

t? wellse

Even though the Vormons were using a plan entirely

employed, the old build-

- different from previously

anythir ;

ings of the asistencia were not abandoned. Bishop Tenny, one

of the subordinates of Lyman and Rich, took up his residence

there. He interested his people in constructing the Tenny

diteh, which drew from the old zanja. Orchards and vineyards

1l. Je. Brown,




-

1

wereplamtei. Also, Mrs. Tenny opened a school in part of

the agsistencia structure., ‘ f
Improvement under the Mormons was rapid. Three

sawmills were built in the mountains, which not only pro-

vided the settleme

nt with sufficient timber but also sup-

plied much for the Los Angeles market. A flour mill, good

roads, irrigation ditches, and an impressive settlement of

homes, stores, and publiec buildings were completed in the

course of a few years. Growth was so rapid that by 1853
Smmkariaraimo was made into a separate county with the Mor-
mon center as the county seat. By 1854 the city had become

incorporated, and the venture appeared to be a success.l2

Even akegimmiagin.mﬁ'<‘ ceme with the furniture

m near the old asistencia buildings.

factory of Lewis F. Cre

Power was_rurmishedbythe zanja and materials were found in
the elders and willows which grew along the Santa Ana River.
W Once more, however, falilure attended the San Bernar-

dino effort. Again it was not a matter of there being anything

lacking at Sa

1 Bernardino, but that the great and fateful

tor@eskadda%reeé

o

gainst the undertaking. After years of

controversy between the Mormon state and the national govern-

ment, a body of troops, in 1857, was dispatched to Salt Lake.

Brigham Young, not knowing how far the difficulties would lead,

12, Bancroft, California, VI, 520-521.



s« On October 30, a

felt obliged to recall his colonis
with the order. By that
wollected there, and

letter arrived at Sar

had been developed and were being operated suec-

fullys To write the whole venture off at one stroke
almost unthinkable. However, such was the loyalty

Vormons to their leader that th

ey never kéaitataé

few, who were out of s

ympathy with some

‘oung's doetrines, chose to remain. The rest,

lovember 14, were making

active preparations

the last entry dated in

s Band by

December 15

San Bernardino

the historian who had been

nted to keep a daily

ment in such a

A four-room house was sold for

ith a sack of sugar, a buggy, and a cloak sdded

an improved farm which was pro-

amping outfit for the jour-

Since the loss was all absorbed individuals

themselves, the cours

's fell&Wernlwaa aalda&mmnr@gr&phically'&em*%stratoa*
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nardino was left once more with only the memory of

San Bezx

what had been.

We Ae Conn, F. L Tu@kﬁrt Richard

interest in
~ the
Allen, Bethel Cow.- d. Hanks th w
Lake, where he die land, which contained the buildings
of ‘k. > former asistencia, was sold to ‘r.. Ben jami

made his home in the old

yman and Rich. Later, in 186:

property was sold 1o

he moved his fe

adobe structures. After tha

se a short distance away on what be

nardino's outstanding eiti

postmaster.

1ins of the asistencia.

fell into virtual oblivion. The

nardino

rture of the Mormons,

countryside

n, the town we

nas deserted.

s disin-

use of the decline in populatic

61 harter until

corporated in 1€

1864 .‘ A few changes




ng up, and most of the re-

15

ands of capitalists. From

- Utah, for several saloons
stores fell into the h

mardinoe rose agein, and this time

spra

mé ining

" the new start, Sar
upon substantial foundations.
was left in ruin. Each

As for the asistenclia, 1%

winter's rains further dissolved it into a shapeless mass of

mud. It was fast becoming not only useless, but an unwel=

made the ground

come obstacle whose disintegrating walls

described &a;fﬁllﬁwszlf

m less fertile. In 1915 1t was

One Qf our &rivcs twwk_us tothe alieat ora;ﬁa

‘:)»ts h@aps of 1y be ﬁecn:

i in ﬁ ‘ “ t @ -. )y ranc h. r@ una ,r -
San Ge bI’i el shortl y a fter the
that miss 101 .

cl d ental

?@u% only i

centered upon the ancient

It was fast being

it was the fact that
marked inferiority. That‘ias little
golder

showed a

ms and

of the great dres hopes once entertained about

the place. By 1923, ige of the old establishme




remained. It was evident ths

would be left of the ruins. ‘

would eventually cease to be.

Vastly different, h :@#er, was the final outcome.

d of becoming one of the mos attered of the

omple

1ins, it is now one of the most accurate-
ly restored. The

of the site. The 0ld records

n ._ r ;Z '

rdino obtained possession

riptions were carefully

county of Se

all sides the ms

from Mexico to make

pro ject was carried out was pr@ « The result was alme

‘brick and tile.

complete restoration. After so much drama,

heartache and

pathos, it would have been added misfortune if so historiec and

monument had passed from ma 1ind. The

peautiful, heroie,

an Bernardino

magnificent in failu

echoes in one's ears

TG
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